THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-07-0931
Appellate Case No. 2012-212732

RECEIVED

JUN 07 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Thaddeus F. Segars,

Appellant,

v.

Fidelity National Title
Insurance Company,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael W. Mogil (SC Bar #11933)
Mogil Law Firm
2 Corpus Christie Place, Ste. 303
Hilton Head Island, SC 29928
Tel. (843)785-8110

Attorney for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-07-0931

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING A MOTION TO DISMISS, WHERE THE FACTS ALLEGED AND THE INFERENCES REASONABLY DEDUCIBLE THEREFROM ENTITLED THE APPELLANT TO RELIEF ON AT LEAST ONE THEORY OF THE CASE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT IS NOT A BONA FIDE PURCHASER?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT DISCOVERED OR SHOULD HAVE DISCOVERED THE FACTS UNDERLYING HIS COMPLAINT AT THE TIME OF THE ISSUANCE OF THE TITLE INSURANCE POLICIES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to commencement of the present action, Thaddeus Segars (hereinafter "Segars" or the "Appellant") filed actions against Fidelity National Title Insurance Company ("Fidelity" or the "Respondent") on July 16, 2008 (Beaufort County Case Number 2008-CP-07-2579) and August 4, 2008 (Beaufort County Case Number 2008-CP-07-2741) (together, the "2008 Cases"). A Stipulation of Dismissal without prejudice was filed as to both of the 2008 Cases on February 19, 2010.

On February 24, 2011, Appellant filed the present action alleging causes of action against Respondent for breach of contract and for vicarious liability, and seeking a declaratory judgment against Respondent. On April 15, 2011, Respondent filed a qualified Answer and a Motion to Dismiss. Appellant filed his Answer to Motion to Dismiss on May 24, 2011.

On April 25, 2012, Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was heard before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Beaufort County Common Pleas Judge. On May 24, 2012, Judge Mullen entered an Order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Appellant served and filed his Notice of Appeal on July 18, 2012; his subsequent Motion to File Appeal Out of Time was granted by Order of this Court of Appeals filed November 13, 2012.

The undersigned was retained as counsel just prior to the April 25, 2012 hearing, and for this Appeal after Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In early 2004, Segars, a real estate agent and resident of Hilton Head Island, contracted to purchase two oceanfront lots in the Singleton Beach Subdivision on Hilton Head Island. "Lot 2" was contracted at a purchase price of \$1,600,000, with title to be held by Mr. Segars and his wife, and the adjacent "Lot 3" was contracted at a purchase price of \$1,800,000, with title to be held by Mr. Segars, Frederick Cerrato, Steven Cerrato, Ken Oliver and Steven Carb, who together planned to form a holding company to control their collective interest in Lot 3.

Historically, and certainly as of December, 2002, the size of home that an owner could build on undeveloped oceanfront property on the beach side of Hilton Head Island was impacted by ocean-side setback lines as established by the Office of Coastal Resource Management ("OCRM"). When read together with the Town of Hilton Head Island Land Management Ordinance ("LMO"), the OCRM line limited the available building envelope attendant to the Lot 2 and Lot 3 Singleton Beach subdivision to approximately 1,500 square feet.

Prior to 2004, when Segars entered into his contracts, there was ongoing negotiation and discussion between the Town of Hilton Head Island, the OCRM and other interested parties and owners such that it was generally believed that the OCRM line was about to move landward, and thus permit full size residential construction on the Lots. In fact, a Plat entitled "Boundary Reconfiguration of Singleton Beach Place Extension Comprising Parcels 10, 10A (2 Parcels), 10B, 10C, 10 D, 10H, 10N (2 parcels) 350 and 359 dated November 12, 2002" was recorded on January 29, 2003 in Plat Book 91 at Page 90 in the Office of Register of Deeds for Beaufort County (the "January 29 Plat"). The January 29 Plat showed a "proposed OCRM line" moving out towards the ocean on Lots 2 and 3, and thus increasing their potential building envelope.

Segars relied on the January 29 Plat in forming his understanding of the building envelope for Lot 2 and Lot 3. (Complaint p. 3; R. p. 9, line 3-4). As such, and in reliance on the January 29 Plat and general knowledge of events transpiring in the OCRM negotiations, Segars proceeded to contract for Lot 2 and Lot 3 and to ultimately close on those transactions later in 2004 as set forth below.

Unbeknownst to Segars and his various partners, a corrective Plat was filed on November 20, 2003 in Plat Book 96 at Page 90 (the "November 20 Plat"), and then a second corrective Plat entitled "Boundary Reconfiguration of Singleton Beach Place Extension Comprising Parcels 10, 10A (2 Parcels), 10B, 10C, 10 D, 10H, 10N(2 parcels) 350 and 359 dated December 4, 2003" was filed on December 15, 2003 and recorded in Plat Book 96 at Page 160 (the "December 15 Plat"). The November 20 Plat and the December 15 Plat removed the designation of a "proposed OCRM line" and thus kept the OCRM line at its

then current location for Lot 2 and Lot 3. As a result, the building envelope for each Lot remained limited by the historical OCRM line.

Segars and his partners proceeded to close on the two parcels in separate transactions. In June, 2004, Lot 2 closed at a purchase price of \$1,600,000 with a first mortgage loan in amount of \$1,440,000. In August, 2004, Lot 3 closed at a purchase price of \$1,800,000 with a first mortgage loan in amount of \$1,620,000. Segars was a personal guarantor on both loans. In both transactions, the law firm Jones, Patterson Simpson and Newton P.A. acted both as buyer's counsel and as Fidelity's title agent.

At some point after the closings, in or around late 2005, Segars and his partners discovered that the OCRM line had yet to be relocated towards the ocean as proposed on the January 29 Plat. As a result of the various OCRM regulations and Town of Hilton Head Island ordinances, the Lots remained limited in their possible use to construction of a home of between 1500 and 1800 square feet, or possibly for other non-construction related uses such as picnics or parking, unless or until the OCRM line moved landward. Until this discovery, Segars and his partners had assumed the OCRM line had already relocated towards the ocean, such that they could construct a residence of approximately 4,000 square feet and paid a purchase price with that intended use. In fact, because the OCRM line had not moved, any construction would be restricted to a reduced size of 1500 square feet or less. At the same time, the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Singleton Place (the "Covenants") prohibited construction of a residence of less than 2,500 square feet. Thus, at the actual time of purchase, and at the time the title insurance policies in question were issued, Lot 2 and Lot 3 were restricted by competing regulations such that no

conforming residence could be constructed. Thus, the Lots had no practical use due to the conflicting restrictions.

As the ongoing land use restrictions imposed by the OCRM line became known to the general public and the real estate community, market interest in the Lots essentially disappeared. The Lots were no longer saleable at prices that were in the range or level as the prices at which the Lots were purchased, despite the otherwise rapid price appreciation in Hilton Head Island oceanfront real estate through early 2007. Later, in 2007, market prices overall began to decline and in fact did not begin to recover until late 2012, and then only on a location-by-location basis.

The loan for Lot 3 was refinanced in 2006. Both purchase money loans went into default in 2008, resulting in foreclosures against both of the subject Lots. As a result of the foreclosures, Segars lost his entire investment in both Lot 2 and Lot 3, and also suffered residual liability for the deficiency balance due on the loan secured by Lot 3. The value of those losses is the largest component of the damages for which Segars seeks insurance coverage in the instant lawsuit.

In or about September, 2010, the OCRM line officially moved ocean-ward for the purpose of the Singleton Beach development and as a result of the negotiated settlement between OCRM, the Town and the Lot owners at Singleton Beach, the Lots are presently eligible for regular residential development based on their full size. However, this resolution came late for Segars, who had been unable to sell the Lots, or carry their interest, taxes and other costs through the period between 2004 through 2009, and thus had lost his investment. For these reasons, Segars claimed in his lawsuit(s), and claims now, that the Lots were not

marketable during the coverage period.

Appellant is informed and believes that at some point, Final Owner's Title Insurance policies were issued by Fidelity's agent, but Appellant avers that he has never received the original insurance policies for either Lot. Rather, portions of the policies were provided to him during the period after his discovery that the line had moved in late 2005 through the pendency of the 2008 lawsuits, in the form of Policy Numbers, such that Appellant to was able to assert demands for coverage against Fidelity. In or about 2006 or 2007, Appellant sent such demands by letter to Fidelity. Ultimately, Fidelity denied coverage. In July of 2008, Appellant filed and served the abovementioned 2008 Cases against Fidelity seeking title insurance coverage.¹ Appellant is currently in possession of a photocopy of a Final Title Insurance Policy No. 51338-6027 for Lot 2 (the "Lot 2 Policy"), and a photocopy of a Final Policy No. 2008.2730640-75096808 for Lot 3 (the "Lot 3 Policy"), which photocopies he obtained through motion practice in the 2008 Cases. Prior to obtaining those copies, Appellant had a copy of what was part of either a loan or owners policy for Lot 3, and the policy number for Lot 2, but not the full policies. As discussed below, it is unclear whether the Lot 3 Final Policy was actually issued in 2004, as there are indications that the policy documents themselves may have been generated at a later time.

The Lot 2 Policy as produced during the 2008 lawsuit was and is missing the standard coverage page, and is therefore incomplete. The Lot 3 Policy, as attached to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment filed in the 2008 cases, was dated June, 2004. However, that

¹ Segars v. Carroll and Fidelity National Title Insurance Company, 2008-CP-07-02579 was brought in connection to losses on Lot 3, and Segars v. Richardson Street Partners, Gaughf and Fidelity National Title Insurance Company, 2008-CP-07-02791 sought recovery for damages stemming from Lot 2.

Lot 3 Policy appears to be written on a form issued by Fidelity and designated, "6/06," which Appellant understands would refer to a form generally circulated by Fidelity on or after June, 2006. Thus, Appellant questions whether the Lot 3 Policy was in fact issued in 2004. Further discovery on this issue was precluded when the lower court entered its Order in the present case.

The Final Policies ultimately produced by Fidelity appear to provide affirmative title insurance coverage for the losses suffered by Appellant. The policies also appear to limit coverage through reference to title-industry standard exceptions from coverage. Ultimately, the issue that spawns the instant litigation is whether the title policies issued to Segars provide insurance coverage for matters which Fidelity apparently excepted in its contracts, but which were neither explained to Segars by Fidelity or Fidelity's agent, nor known to Segars at the time of closing. Fidelity argues that these specific exceptions from coverage override the general grant of coverage set forth in Covered Risks. Segars argues that the stated exceptions from coverage are vague and incomplete, and as such unenforceable when contrasted to the general coverage depicted in the Covered Risks and as expected by an insured when purchasing title insurance. Further, Appellant posits that unless the specific exceptions from coverage were explained by Fidelity or Fidelity's agent, an insured consumer would have no reasonable expectation that his or her coverage was limited by the policy itself, or the nature or extent of such limitations.

After a partial hearing on Fidelity's Motion for Summary Judgment in the 2008 Cases, the parties entered into a stipulation of dismissal, without prejudice, of both actions pursuant to Rule 41(a). Segars re-filed his case pro se on February 24, 2011.

ARGUMENTS

1. THE ORDER GRANTING FIDELITY'S MOTION TO DISMISS WAS PREMATURE IN THIS CASE.

Fidelity's pleadings and argument at hearing sought dismissal of Segar's Complaint pursuant to various sections of Rule 12 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, but it is unclear from the text of the Order itself which Section or Section(s) the Court relied upon for its final decision. To the extent that the Order falls under Rule 12 (b)(6), Segars avers that the ruling is premature. It is settled that a motion to dismiss a claim pursuant to Rule 12 (b) (6), SCRPC must be based solely on the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint. Overcash v. S.C. Elect. & Gas Co., 356 S.C. 165, 588 S.E. 2d 116, 118 (Ct. App. 2003). "The motion will not be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deductible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case." Id. (Internal citations omitted.) "A judgment on the pleadings is to be considered a drastic measure by our courts." Russell v. City of Columbia, 406 S.E.2d 338, 305 S.C. 86 (S.C. 1991). Pleadings in a case should therefore be construed liberally, and the trial court and the Court of Appeals must presume all well pled facts to be true, so that substantial justice is done between the parties." Overcash, S.E. 2d 116, 118 (Ct. App. 2003).

Accepting the facts as Appellant pled them, as argued below, this case would not be barred by any applicable statute of limitations. Further, if those facts were proven at trial, Appellant argues that he could prevail on the merits of his causes of action.

2. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TOLLED BY THE FILING OF THE 2008 CASES

The Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (the "Order") states that

Appellant's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1). (Order p. 2; R. p. 5, line 13). S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) provides a three-year statute of limitation for an action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied. At the hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Respondent argued that the statute began to run in the summer of 2004, when the Policies were allegedly issued. (Transcript pp. 7-8; R. pp. 60-61). However, under the discovery rule, Appellant's causes of action arose either when Fidelity first denied Appellant's claim for coverage, or when Appellant first discovered the terms of the Policies.

Appellant's claim(s) was denied in or about 2006 or 2007. Appellant avers that he did not receive his owner's title insurance policy for Lot 3 until 2008, and for Lot 2 until late 2009, through discovery and motion practice in the 2008 Cases. Indeed, to this date, Appellant has not received complete copies of the Policies, despite repeated requests. As stated above, the Lot 2 Policy that has been produced does not have a standard exceptions page. The Lot 3 Policy appears to have been printed on a form that might not have existed until June, 2006, based on the notations on the form itself. Thus, it might have been impossible for that policy to have existed in that manner in 2004. The events leading to the creation and distribution of the policy can only be discovered if this case is permitted to proceed.

In any event, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action first arises. Here, the cause of action arose when Respondent denied Appellant's claim under the Policies, in 2006 or 2007. Under South Carolina law, although it is rarely employed, equitable tolling is available where a plaintiff actively pursued his remedies by filing a

defective pleading during the statutory period. Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Services and Rehabilitation Center, 659 S.E.2d 213, 377 S.C. 217, 232 (S.C.App. 2008). Equitable tolling is also available where a plaintiff is unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his claim, despite all due diligence. Id. Both conditions apply to the present action, because the Appellant actively pursued his remedies by filing two actions during the statutory period, and because he was unable to obtain vital information concerning the Policies, despite his due diligence.

Even if Appellant is deemed to have constructive notice of his losses in 2006 or late 2005, Appellant argues that the filing of the 2008 Cases tolled any statute of limitations, and the re-filing of the cases, as re-stated in Case No. 2011-CP-07-00931, relates back to the statute of limitations tolling caused by the 2008 Cases.

3. APPELLANT WAS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER

In its Order, the Court below found that Appellant “is not a bona fide purchaser because sufficient record notice was available as of the date of the issuance of the policies to charge him with a duty to inquire, which if pursued with due diligence, would have supplied him with knowledge of the restrictions and plats.” (Order p. 2; R. p. 5, lines 6-11). In Spence v. Spence 628 S.E.2d 869, 368 S.C. 106, 117 (S.C. 2006), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated:

A purchaser may assert a plea in equity of a bona fide purchaser for value, without notice of defect in his title, by showing (1) he has actually paid in full the purchase money (giving security for the payment is not sufficient, nor is past indebtedness a sufficient consideration); (2) he purchased and acquired the legal title, or interest in the property.

(Citations omitted). There are two basic forms of notice by which a purchaser may be

charged with knowledge of the rights of another in real property: actual notice and constructive/inquiry notice. Id. Constructive or inquiry notice in the context of a real estate transaction “often is grounded in an examination of the public record because it is the proper recording of documents asserting an interest or claim in real property which gives constructive notice to the world.” Spence v. Spence 269 S.C. at 119. “[B]ut constructive notice goes no further. It stands upon the principle that the party is bound to the exercise of due diligence, and is assumed to have the knowledge to which that diligence would lead him; but he is not held to have notice of matter which lies beyond the range of that inquiry and which that diligence might not disclose.” Black v. Childs, 14 S.C. 312, 321-22 (1880). The South Carolina Supreme Court has found that, given the speedy nature of residential real estate contracts today, it is not feasible to expect a buyer to be able to research the title of the property they are buying before entering into a contract. Slack v. James, 614 S.E.2d 636, 639; 364 S.C. 609 (S.C. 2005).

Instead, purchasers rely on the expertise of real estate attorneys and insurance agents to perform the due diligence that is required prior to the closing of a real estate transaction. As has already been described, Appellant in this case relied on Jones, Patterson Simpson and Newton P.A. to act as buyer’s counsel and as Fidelity’s title agent. It was reasonable for Appellant to expect that the firm would conduct a thorough title search, and report any issues or potential pitfalls to the Appellant prior to closing and prior to issuing title insurance. At the time, Appellant had conducted his own review of the January 23 Plat and determined that the OCRM revisions would enable the development of a suitable residence on the Lots. This was the knowledge to which his due diligence led him. The subsequent November and

December Plats were knowledge falling beyond the range of his inquiry and which his due diligence did not disclose. However, it is knowledge that Fidelity's agent, both as a real estate law firm and as an insurance agency, could have discovered, and possibly did discover if the title policies are in fact contemporaneous statements of the knowledge of the underwriter. Segars' contention is that if the new Plats were discovered as set forth in the policies he ultimately received, then it was the duty of an insurance agent to explain to him the scope and import of the policy exceptions that exclude coverage for losses flowing from those Plats and underlying matters.

4. THE INSURANCE POLICY AS WRITTEN COVERED LOSSES SUCH AS THOSE ALLEGED BY THE APPELLANT

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