THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-07-0931
Appellate Case No. 2012-212732

Thaddeus F. Segars, Appellant,

v.

Fidelity National Title Insurance Company, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Amy P. Hunt
Horack, Talley, Pharr & Lowndes, P.A.
301 South College Street, Suite 2600
Charlotte, N.C. 28202-6006
(704) 377-2500
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED
JUN 05 2013
SC Court of Appeals

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

Lastly, the terms of the Policies at issue in this case are all terms related to public records, for which Appellant was charged with record notice.

With respect to the vicarious liability claim, although it is not clear from the Complaint, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Appellant, it appears that this is, in essence, a malpractice or negligence claim, which is also a three-year statute, although it would be governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5) and § 15-3-535. Setting aside any alleged agency issues (which are not properly before this Court), the trigger date should remain the same, as the matters which led to this alleged claim were also all of public record as of the date of the closings, which was the last act of the attorney. Accordingly, the trial court also properly found that these claims were barred by the statute of limitations.

B. Appellant is not entitled to equitable tolling of the statute of limitations.

In his Initial Brief, Appellant argues that he is entitled to equitable tolling, because he actively pursued his remedies by filing a defective pleading during the statutory period and was unable to obtain vital information. (Appellant Initial Br. pp. 12-13). All vital information was of public record as of the dates of purchase in 2004—nothing contained in the Policies could change the public records. Even the case cited by Appellant does not support the rare application of the theory of equitable estoppel to the facts in the present case. The Supreme Court's exception allowing for equitable tolling in the case of *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab Ctr.* dealt largely with the public policy and interests of justice in the public being able to rely on public records. 386 S.C. 108, 112, 687 S.E.2d 29, 34 (S.C. 2009). *Hooper* is blatantly distinguishable, because the Respondent raised service issues when it was Respondent's own improper registering

with the Secretary of State that led to Appellant serving the incorrect address. The court allowed equitable tolling as a matter of public policy. While several other examples are cited in *Hooper*, none appear to mirror Appellant's situation.

If Appellant's prior 2008 lawsuits are to be considered as part of this appeal (which is denied by Respondent), this Court must then also look to the basis for the Stipulations of Dismissal filed on February 19, 2012. During the summary judgment arguments in the 2008 cases, "the [trial] Court was inclined to grant summary judgment [in favor of Respondent]". (R. p. 62, lines 4-6). The 2008 lawsuits were not filed *pro se*, and the Stipulations were not taken because of any "extraordinary event" or "extraordinary circumstance" beyond Appellant's control. *See Hooper, id.* Instead, the Stipulations were taken because the trial court indicated it was inclined to grant Respondent's Motions for Summary Judgment finding a correct denial of coverage for Appellant's claims, thereby unfavorably ending Appellant's case. Accordingly, even viewing every possible fact in the 2011 Complaint in the light most favorable to Appellant—keeping in mind that none of the facts of this paragraph are even referenced in the 2011 Complaint—Appellant is still not entitled to equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. There is no basis for Appellant's argument that the filing of the 2011 Complaint relates back to the filing of the 2008 lawsuits; however, even if such relation back were allowed, Appellant's claims would still be barred, because the statute of limitations trigger date in this case is the date Appellant obtained title to the Lots and the Policies were issued in 2004. More than three years had passed since the closings and issuance of the Policies at the time Appellant ever filed his two 2008 lawsuits.

- C. **Appellant is not a bona fide purchaser entitled to a later discovery date, because sufficient record notice was available as of the date of the issuance of the Policies to charge him with a duty to inquire, which if pursued with due diligence, would have supplied him with knowledge of the public records that allegedly led to his loss.**

Appellant is charged with record notice of the public records as of the date of his purchases and issuance of the Policies, because Appellant is not an innocent bona fide purchaser for value. When the question is one of record notice, there is no factual inquiry as to the date, because the date of recording speaks for itself. Furthermore, when Appellant actually learned of the 2003 plats is not the determining factor—it is when he objectively should have learned of them.

Appellant cannot be afforded the protections of a bona fide purchaser “when sufficient record notice is available to charge the purchaser with a duty to inquire which, if pursued with due diligence would have supplied him with knowledge of the rights of other parties.” *South Carolina Tax Com. v. Belk*, 266 S.C. 539, 544, 225 S.E.2d 177, 179 (S.C. 1976) (citation omitted). The Supreme Court has “denied subsequent purchasers comfort under the umbrella of a bona fide purchaser when the exercise of prudence would have avoided the difficulty.” *Id.* When all relevant matters are in the public records—specifically, in the chain of title for the subject properties—due diligence should include a title search. A party cannot claim the protections of a bona fide purchaser “where the circumstances are sufficient to put one upon inquiry, or where one might by due diligence have ascertained the facts. One is charged with notice of every fact which such inquiry and such diligence will certainly disclose.” *Kirton v. Howard*, 137 S.C. 11, 36-37, 134 S.E. 859, 1 (S.C. 1926) (citing *Black v. Childs*, 14 S.C. 312, 322

(S.C. 1880)). Although Appellant claims to have performed due diligence, there is no support for his assertion that due diligence includes reviewing only one of the plats in the chain of title (not to mention the oldest plat of the three). Due diligence is also an objective standard, and simply stating that Appellant tried and failed to find matters of public record does not make his efforts reasonable. Even when the adequacy of notice may be questionable (which is not our case), “a purchaser cannot carelessly disregard record notice of potential incumbrances” *Belk*, 266 S.C. at 544, 225 S.E.2d at 180 (finding that buyer had record notice of defects in the chain of title such that she could not claim “the lofty status of an innocent purchaser for value”). Reviewing the public records only until you find a plat that benefits the purchaser (the January 2003 plat) and not following up to determine if any subsequent plats are of record is careless disregard of the record notice.

Appellant’s primary claim, which was denied by Respondent, resulting in the present action, stems from the fact that he could not build a residence that would meet the 2,500 square foot minimum required by the Declaration because of the building envelope created by the 2003 plats. The Declaration and 2003 plats were matters of public record as of the dates of the purchases and issuance of the Policies in 2004. Accordingly, Appellant had record notice of this issue underlying his Complaint in 2004.

Appellant correctly directs this Court’s attention to the case of *Spence v. Spence*. 628 S.E.2d 869, 368 S.C. 106 (S.C. 2006). Yet, while Appellant argues that “constructive or inquiry notice in the context of a real estate transaction often is grounded in an examination of the public record because it is the proper recording of documents asserting an interest or claim in real property which gives constructive notice to the

world”, Appellant fails to fully express the Supreme Court’s opinion on record notice. 368 S.C. at 119, 628 S.E.2d at 876. The *Spence* Court continues to hold that “[t]he recording of a document alerts all future grantees of the rights of the recorder because the law assumes the grantee will search the index and discover the interest or claim.” *Id.* As further evidence of this proposition, the court looks to *Epps v. McCallum Realty Co.*, which held that “recording amounts to notice, whether known or unknown, because the means of information are at hand.” 139 S.C. 481, 499-500, 138 S.E. 297, 303 (S.C. 1927). The *Epps* Court adopts the harsh proposition that “it is an easy matter for a purchaser of land to ascertain at the time of his purchase [the status of title], and if he fails to do so, he should take the consequences.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

Appellant’s reliance on *Slack v. James* for the proposition that “it is not feasible to expect a buyer to be able to research the title of the property they are buying before entering into a contract” is also misguided. 614 S.E.2d 636, 639, 364 S.C. 609, 616 (S.C. 2005) (emphasis added). First and foremost, in *Slack*, the defendants/appellees were only potential purchasers—the purchase transaction never closed. Second and equally important, in *Slack*, the purchasers received misrepresentations from the sellers and real estate agents. The *Slack* case simply does not find that a party can be a bona fide purchaser for value despite record notice—it does not reference the issue of bona fide purchasers at all. Indeed, there are no other cases citing *Slack* for the language quoted by Appellant, and the cases subsequently citing *Slack* are not bona fide purchaser cases, but rather they address whether or not a question of fact exists when a buyer relies on a seller’s misrepresentation when the falsity of the representations could have been discovered through an examination of the public records. See *Coake v. Burt*, 391 S.C.

201, 705 S.E.2d 453 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010) (addressing defects in physical structures on the property that may not have been disclosed); *Moseley v. All Things Possible, Inc.* 388 S.C. 31, 694 S.E.2d 43 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010) (affirming a finding of fraud). Interestingly, Appellant does not cite a single case to support his proposition that his alleged reliance on real estate attorneys and insurance agents affords him the protections of a bona fide purchaser without notice, despite the public records.

Holding bona fide purchaser status is the only means by which Appellant could claim a statute of limitations trigger date after 2004. Unfortunately for Appellant, no excuse—not the speedy nature of residential transactions nor the reliance on attorneys and insurance agents—will allow a purchaser to reap the benefits of the bona fide purchaser status when he willfully ignores the public records. And while Appellant appears to want to argue about the reasonableness of his diligence, there cannot be a factual dispute as to diligence when using the objective standard set out by our courts. Applying this objective standard, Appellant is not a bona fide purchaser due to record notice; accordingly, his claims are all barred by the statute of limitations, which began to run in 2004.

II. The Court properly dismissed Appellant's Complaint, pursuant to Rules 12(b)(2), 12(b)(4), and 12(b)(5) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, because the court lacked jurisdiction over Respondent due to Appellant's insufficient process and service of process.

Although not specifically addressed in the trial court's Order, pursuant to Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c) of the Rules of Appellate Practice, Respondent also requests that the court affirm the trial court's ruling on the basis that the court lacks jurisdiction over Respondent pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2), there is insufficient process pursuant to Rule

12(b)(4), and there is insufficient service of process pursuant to Rule 12(b)(5) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 417-423, 526 S.E.2d 716, 721-725 (S.C. 2000).

- A. Appellant did not name the proper party and did not address the summons to an officer, a managing or general agent, or to any other agent authorized by appointment of law to receive service of process.**

Although the caption of the Complaint states the correct party name of Fidelity National Title Insurance Company, the Certificate of Service for the Complaint states that Appellant, *pro se*, served Respondent as follows:

Fidelity Title Insurance Company
Claims Intake Department
P.O. Box 45023
Jacksonville, FL 32232

(R. p. 57, lines 19-24; R. p. 72). Respondent notes that the body of the Certificate of Service states that it is serving the "above Response to Notice and Motion to Dismiss"; however, this Certificate was filed with the Court on March 31, 2011, before Appellant's Answer and Motion to Dismiss were filed, so it is assumed that this was a typo and the certificate intended to refer to service of the Complaint. There is no other evidence of attempted or accomplished service in the court record. (R. p. 58, lines 16-19). The Certificate of Service does not include the name of the correct party. (R. p. 57, line 25; R. p. 58, line 1; R. p. 72). Furthermore, the summons and complaint were not directed to an officer, a managing or general agent, or to any other agent authorized by appointment of law to receive service of process as required by Rule 4(d)(3) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. 58, lines 1-2). Appellant also failed to comply with Rule 4(d)(8) in that certified mail was not used and with Rule 4(g) in that Appellant did not attach a copy of

the return receipt or envelope to indicate whether the mailing was accepted, refused, or otherwise returned.

Appellant asserted during the Motion to Dismiss argument that Respondent waived any jurisdiction arguments by appearing in this action. (R. p. 67, lines 5-7). It is important to note, however, that the Respondent's Answer specifically states that it is filed without waiving the Motions to Dismiss filed simultaneously and that nothing contained in the Answer shall be construed as Respondent consenting to jurisdiction or waiving any service or jurisdictional defenses. (R. p. 15). Appellant did not follow the rules for service and, accordingly, the trial court properly dismissed his action pursuant to Rules 12(b)(2), (4), and (5) of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

B. Appellant never attempted or obtained service at a proper address for Respondent.

In addition to the flaws with the name of Respondent and the Rule 4(d) and Rule 4(g) defects, Appellant also failed to ever attempt service at a proper address for Respondent. The South Carolina legislature sets out a simple procedure for serving insurance companies. (R. p. 58, lines 6-10). Section 15-9-270 of the S.C. Code sets forth that service upon the South Carolina Department of Insurance is sufficient. Although Fidelity National Title Insurance Company is properly registered with the South Carolina Department of Insurance, Appellant never complied with this section of the Code. (R. p. 58, lines 11-15).

Because Appellant never accomplished proper service of Respondent, the court lacked personal jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2) of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant simply did not follow the rules for service. Because these service issues were raised during the April 25, 2012 hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, this Court would,

therefore, be proper in affirming the trial court's dismissal on service and jurisdiction grounds. In addition, these service errors are fatal due to the passing of the statute of limitation, as counsel for Appellant stated during the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss: "clearly we are well beyond that statute of limitations today". (R. p. 67, lines 22-23).

III. Appellant's fourth argument regarding whether or not the alleged losses are covered by the Policies was not raised at the trial court and is not appropriately before this Court.

With respect to Appellant's fourth argument that the losses alleged by Appellant are covered by the Policies, this issue is outside of the scope of the trial court's Order and, therefore, is not properly before this Court. *See Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (S.C. 1991) (where the trial court does not explicitly rule on a question and the appellant fails to make a Rule 59(e) SCRP motion to amend or alter the judgment on that ground, the issue is not properly before the court of appeals and should not be addressed). Furthermore, the trial court's Order does not grant Respondent's Motion to Dismiss because Appellant fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The Order specifically states that "the Court finds that Defendant's Motion to Dismiss should be allowed, because Plaintiff's claims are all barred by the applicable statute of limitations under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1)." (R. p. 5, ¶ 7). Although Rule 208(b)(2) allows a respondent to make arguments "asking the court to affirm on any ground appearing in the record as provided by Rule 220(c)", an appellant is not authorized to assert arguments outside the scope of the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law.